## CIVIL PROCEDURE

#### **EDITORIAL ADVISORS**

#### Rachel E. Barkow

Segal Family Professor of Regulatory Law and Policy Faculty Director, Center on the Administration of Criminal Law New York University School of Law

#### **Erwin Chemerinsky**

Dean and Jesse H. Choper Distinguished Professor of Law University of California, Berkeley School of Law

#### Richard A. Epstein

Laurence A. Tisch Professor of Law New York University School of Law Peter and Kirsten Bedford Senior Fellow The Hoover Institution Senior Lecturer in Law The University of Chicago

#### Ronald J. Gilson

Charles J. Meyers Professor of Law and Business Stanford University Marc and Eva Stern Professor of Law and Business Columbia Law School

#### James E. Krier

Earl Warren DeLano Professor of Law The University of Michigan Law School

#### Tracey L. Meares

Walton Hale Hamilton Professor of Law Director, The Justice Collaboratory Yale Law School

#### Richard K. Neumann, Jr.

Alexander Bickel Professor of Law Maurice A. Deane School of Law at Hofstra University

#### Robert H. Sitkoff

John L. Gray Professor of Law Harvard Law School

#### **David Alan Sklansky**

Stanley Morrison Professor of Law Faculty Co-Director, Stanford Criminal Justice Center Stanford Law School

#### **ASPEN CASEBOOK SERIES**

## **CIVIL PROCEDURE**

#### Tenth Edition

#### STEPHEN C. YEAZELL

David G. Price & Dallas P. Price Distinguished Professor of Law Emeritus University of California, Los Angeles

#### JOANNA C. SCHWARTZ

Vice Dean for Faculty Development and Professor of Law University of California, Los Angeles



Copyright © 2019 CCH Incorporated. All Rights Reserved.

Published by Wolters Kluwer in New York.

Wolters Kluwer Legal & Regulatory U.S. serves customers worldwide with CCH, Aspen Publishers, and Kluwer Law International products. (www.WKLegaledu.com)

No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopy, recording, or utilized by any information storage or retrieval system, without written permission from the publisher. For information about permissions or to request permissions online, visit us at www.WKLegaledu.com, or a written request may be faxed to our permissions department at 212-771-0803.

To contact Customer Service, e-mail customer.service@wolterskluwer.com, call 1-800-234-1660, fax 1-800-901-9075, or mail correspondence to:

Wolters Kluwer Attn: Order Department PO Box 990 Frederick, MD 21705

Printed in the United States of America.

1234567890

ISBN 978-1-4548-9788-0

#### Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Names: Yeazell, Stephen C., author. | Schwartz, Joanna C., author.

Title: Civil procedure / Stephen C. Yeazell, David G. Price & Dallas P. Price Distinguished

Professor of Law Emeritus, University of California, Los Angeles; Joanna

C. Schwartz, Vice Dean for Faculty Development and Professor of Law, University of

California, Los Angeles.

Description: Tenth edition. | New York: Wolters Kluwer, [2019] | Series:

 $A spen\ casebook\ series\ |\ Includes\ bibliographical\ references\ and\ index.$ 

Identifiers: LCCN 2018043033 | ISBN 9781454897880

Subjects: LCSH: Civil procedure—United States. | LCGFT: Casebooks (Law)

Classification: LCC KF8839.Y43 2019 | DDC 347.73/5—dc23

LC record available at https://lccn.loc.gov/2018043033

#### About Wolters Kluwer Legal & Regulatory U.S.

Wolters Kluwer Legal & Regulatory U.S. delivers expert content and solutions in the areas of law, corporate compliance, health compliance, reimbursement, and legal education. Its practical solutions help customers successfully navigate the demands of a changing environment to drive their daily activities, enhance decision quality and inspire confident outcomes.

Serving customers worldwide, its legal and regulatory portfolio includes products under the Aspen Publishers, CCH Incorporated, Kluwer Law International, ftwilliam.com and MediRegs names. They are regarded as exceptional and trusted resources for general legal and practice-specific knowledge, compliance and risk management, dynamic workflow solutions, and expert commentary.

	_

For Ruth, Owen, and Emmet—SCY and For Teddy, Kate, and Julian—JCS

	_

## Summary of Contents

Contents xi
Preface xxv
Acknowledgments xxvii

1. An Overview of Procedure 1

#### PART I: THE CONSTITUTIONAL FRAMEWORK FOR U.S. LITIGATION

- 2. Personal Jurisdiction 67
- 3. Subject Matter Jurisdiction of the Federal Courts 205
- 4. State Law in Federal Courts: *Erie* and Its Entailments 255

#### PART II: THE PROCESS OF LITIGATION

- **5.** Incentives to Litigate 293
- **6.** Pleading 361
- 7. Discovery 455
- **8.** Resolution Without Trial 523
- **9.** The Trier and the Trial 593
- **10.** Appeal 661
- 11. Respect for Judgments 703

#### PART III: PROBING THE BOUNDARIES: ADDITIONAL CLAIMS AND PARTIES

**12.** Joinder 777

Table of Cases 889

Table of Citations to the Judicial Code (28 U.S.C.) 895

Table of Citations to the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 897

Table of Authorities 899

Index 901

	_

## Contents

Preface xxv Acknowledgments xxvii

#### Chapter 1: An Overview of Procedure 1

A.	The Idea and the Practice of Procedure	1

- 1. Locating Procedure 1
- 2. Clients, Lawyers, Procedure, and Strategy 2

#### B. Where Can the Suit Be Brought? 5

- 1. Personal Jurisdiction 6
- Subject Matter Jurisdiction 6
   Hawkins v. Masters Farms, Inc. 7
   Notes and Problems 10
- 3. Service of Process 13

#### C. Stating the Case 13

- The Lawyer's Responsibility 13
   Bridges v. Diesel Service, Inc. 14
   Notes and Problems 15
  - Note: Reading the Rules—Process and Politics 16
- 2. The Complaint 18

Bell v. Novick Transfer Co. 19 Notes and Problems 19

- 3. The Response—Motions and Answer 21
  - a. Pre-Answer Motions 22Notes and Problems 23
  - Notes and Problems b. The Answer 24
- Notes and Problems 26
  4. Amendment of Pleadings 27

#### D. Parties to the Lawsuit 27

Fisher v. Ciba Specialty Chemicals Corp. 28 Notes and Problems 30

E.	Factual Development—Discovery	31
	Gorson v. T.G.R. Logistics, Inc.	33
	Notes and Problems 36	
F.	Pretrial Disposition—Summary Inc	dgm

Houchens v. American Home Assurance Co. 38

Notes and Problems 41

G. Trial 42

Norton v. Snapper Power Equipment 43 Notes and Problems 45

H. Former Adjudication 47

*Ison v. Thomas* 48
Notes and Problems 49

I. Appeals 50

Reise v. Board of Regents of the University of Wisconsin 51 Notes and Problems 52 Note on Appellate Structure and Jurisdiction 54 Note: Civil Procedure in Your Substantive Courses 55 Assessment Questions—And a Word About Using These Questions 56 Analysis of Assessment Questions 58

## PART I: THE CONSTITUTIONAL FRAMEWORK FOR U.S. LITIGATION

- A. Approaching Civil Procedure 61
- B. Constitutional Limits in Litigation 62
  - 1. The Idea of Jurisdiction 62
  - 2. Jurisdiction and the Constitution 63
  - 3. The Constitution and Choice of Law 65

#### **Chapter 2: Personal Jurisdiction** 67

A. The Origins 67

Pennoyer v. Neff 68 Notes and Problems 74

- B. The Modern Constitutional Formulation of Power 77
  - Redefining Constitutional Power 78
     International Shoe Co. v. Washington 79
     Notes and Problems 84

Contents xiii

	McGee v. International Life Insurance Co. 86 Hanson v. Denckla 87 Notes and Problems 88
	2. Absorbing <i>In Rem</i> Jurisdiction 88  Shaffer v. Heitner 90  Notes and Problems 97
	3. Specific Jurisdiction: The Modern Cases 99  World-Wide Volkswagen Corp. v. Woodson 100  Notes and Problems 106  J. McIntyre Machinery, Ltd. v. Nicastro 111  Notes and Problems 120  Abdouch v. Lopez 121  Notes and Problems 127  4. General Jurisdiction 128  Goodyear Dunlop Tires Operations, S.A. v. Brown 129  Notes and Problems 132  Daimler AG v. Bauman 133  Notes and Problems 139  Bristol-Meyers Squibb Co. v. Superior Court 140  Notes and Problems 146  Burnham v. Superior Court 148  Notes and Problems 154  Note on the Mechanics of Jurisdiction: Challenge and Waiver 155  Notes and Problems 156
C.	Consent as a Substitute for Power 158  Carnival Cruise Lines, Inc. v. Shute 159  Notes and Problems 162
D.	Notice 163  1. The Constitutional Requirements 163  **Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co. 165  Notes and Problems 170  2. Beyond the Constitutional Requirements: The Mechanics of Notice and Service 172
E.	<ul> <li>Self-Imposed Restraints on Jurisdictional Power: Long-Arm Statutes,</li> <li>Venue, and Discretionary Refusal of Jurisdiction 177</li> <li>1. Long-Arm Statutes as a Restraint on Jurisdiction 177  Gibbons v. Brown 178  Notes and Problems 180</li> <li>2. Venue as a Further Localizing Principle 181  Notes and Problems 183  Thompson v. Greyhound Lines, Inc. 184  Notes and Problems 186</li> <li>3. Declining Jurisdiction: Transfer and Forum Non Conveniens 187  Piper Aircraft v. Reyno 188</li> </ul>

Notes and Problems 193	
Atlantic Marine Construction Co. v. United States District Court	195
Notes and Problems 198	
Assessment Questions 199	
Analysis of Assessment Questions 202	

## Chapter 3: Subject Matter Jurisdiction of the Federal Courts 205

- A. The Idea and the Structure of Subject Matter Jurisdiction 205
- B. Federal Question Jurisdiction 209

Louisville & Nashville Railroad v. Mottley 210 Notes and Problems 212

#### C. Diversity Jurisdiction 218

Redner v. Sanders 220
Notes and Problems 221
Hertz Corp. v. Friend 225
Notes and Problems 228
Note: Amount in Controversy 229

#### D. Supplemental Jurisdiction 232

Notes and Problems 233
In re Ameriquest Mortgage Co. Mortgage Lending Practices
Litigation 235
Szendrey-Ramos v. First Bancorp 237
Notes and Problems 239

#### E. Removal 241

Notes and Problems 241

Caterpillar, Inc. v. Lewis 244

Notes and Problems 247

Assessment Questions 249

Analysis of Assessment Questions 251

## Chapter 4: State Law in Federal Courts: *Erie* and Its Entailments 255

- A. State Courts as Lawmakers in a Federal System 256
  - 1. The Issue in Historical Context 256
  - 2. Constitutionalizing the Issue 258Erie Railroad v. Tompkins 259Notes and Problems 263

Contents XV

В.	<ol> <li>The Limits of State Power in Federal Courts 267</li> <li>Interpreting the Constitutional Command of Erie 268         <ul> <li>Guaranty Trust Co. v. York 268</li> <li>Notes and Problems 269</li> <li>Byrd v. Blue Ridge Rural Electric Cooperative 272</li> <li>Notes and Problems 274</li> </ul> </li> <li>De-constitutionalizing Erie 274         <ul> <li>Hanna v. Plumer 275</li> <li>Notes and Problems 279</li> </ul> </li> <li>Determining the Scope of Federal Law: Avoiding and Accommodating Erie 282         <ul> <li>Note: Interpreting State Law: An Entailment of Erie 283</li> <li>Assessment Questions 285</li> <li>Analysis of Assessment Questions 286</li> </ul> </li> </ol>
DADTH T	HE DROCECC OF LITICATION
PARI II: I	HE PROCESS OF LITIGATION
<b>A.</b>	Approaching Civil Procedure 289
Б.	Choosing Procedure 290
C.	A Roadmap for Exploring Choices 291
C	hapter 5: Incentives to Litigate 293
A.	Litigation in the United States at the Start of the Twenty-First Century 293
	Notes and Problems 297
В.	Reasons to Litigate: Dollars, Orders, and Declarations 299  1. Damages 299  Troupe v. C & S Wholesale Grocers, Inc. 300
	Notes and Problems 303
	<ul><li>a. Damage Amounts: Ceilings and Floors 303</li><li>b. Categorizing Damages 305</li><li>Notes and Problems 306</li></ul>
	<ol> <li>Specific Relief 307</li> <li>Lucy Webb Hayes Natl. Training School v. Geoghegan 308</li> <li>Notes and Problems 311</li> </ol>
	Notes and Problems 311 3. Declaratory Relief 311 Notes and Problems 314
	4. Temporary Remedies 315
	a. Preliminary Injunctions and Temporary Restraining Orders:
	The Basic Problem 316

Winter v. Natural Resources Defense Council, Inc. 316
Notes and Problems 321
b. Provisional Remedies and Due Process 324
Fuentes v. Shevin 324
Notes and Problems 329
C. Financing Litigation 332
1. The "American" and "English" Rules About Attorneys' Fees 334
Notes and Problems 336
2. Insurance, the Contingent Fee, and Alternative Litigation Finance 336
a. Insurance 337
Notes and Problems 337
b. The Contingent Fee 339
Notes and Problems 342
c. Alternative Litigation Finance 343
Notes and Problems 345
3. Public Subsidies and Professional Charity 347
Notes and Problems 349
4. From Fee Spreading to Fee Shifting 349
a. The Common Fund 350
Notes and Problems 350
b. By Contract 351
c. By Common Law 351
d. By Statute 351
Notes and Problems 352
Problem: How to Lose by Winning 353
Notes and Problems 354
Buckhannon Board and Care Home, Inc. v. West Virginia Department
of Health and Human Resources 355
Notes and Problems 357
Assessment Questions 358
Analysis of Assessment Questions 359
Chapter 6: Pleading 361
A. The Story of Pleading 361
1. Of Stories and Jurisdiction 362
Notes and Problems 362
2. Plaintiff's Story, Defendant's Story 365
3. One Function of Pleading: Establishing the Law 366
Notes and Problems 368

Haddle v. Garrison (S.D. Ga. 1996) 371

Haddle v. Garrison (11th Cir. 1997) 374

Notes and Problems 372

Notes and Problems 374

Contents xvii

	Haddle v. Garrison (525 U.S. 121 (1998)) 375 Notes and Problems 378 Another Function of Pleading: Sorting Strong from Weak Cases? 380 a. The "Ordinary" Case: How Much Detail in a Complaint? 381 Notes and Problems 382 Ashcroft v. Iqbal 385 Notes and Problems 395 b. Special Cases: Requiring and Forbidding Specificity in Pleading 397 Stradford v. Zurich Insurance Co. 397 Notes and Problems 400 Allocating the Elements of a Claim 402 Jones v. Bock 403
	Notes and Problems 406
Eth	Notes and Problems 410 Walker v. Norwest Corp. 412 Notes and Problems 414 Christian v. Mattel, Inc. 416 Notes and Problems 420
Res	sponding to the Complaint 421
	Default 422
	The Pre-Answer Motion (and a Close Post-Answer Relative) 422
	Notes and Problems 423
	Notes and Problems 424
	Notes and Problems 426
3.	Answer 427
	a. Denials 427
	Zielinski v. Philadelphia Piers, Inc. 428
	Notes and Problems 431
	b. Affirmative Defenses 433
	Notes and Problems 433
4.	Reply 435
	Notes and Problems 435
5.	Amendments 437
	Notes and Problems 437
	a. The Basic Problem: Prejudice 438
	Beeck v. Aquaslide 'N' Dive Corp. 438 Notes and Problems 442
	b. Statutes of Limitations and Relation Back 444
	Moore v. Baker 445
	Bonerb v. Richard J. Caron Foundation 446
	Notes and Problems 448
	Assessment Questions 450
	Analysis of Assessment Questions 452
	•

B.

C.

#### Chapter 7: Discovery 455

<b>A.</b>	Modern	Discovery	455
-----------	--------	-----------	-----

- Discovery Before Discovery: Obligations and Spoliation 456
   Zubulake v. UBS Warburg LLP 456
   Notes and Problems 459
- 2. Getting the Story Straight: Crafting a Discovery Plan 461

#### B. The Tools of Discovery 462

1. Required Disclosures—First Round 465

Notes and Problems 465

2. Documents, Things, Land, and Bytes: Requests for Production (Rules 34 and 45) 466

Notes and Problems 468

3. Asking Questions in Writing, Seeking Admissions: Interrogatories and Admissions (Rules 33 and 36) 468

Notes and Problems 470

 Asking Questions in Person: Depositions (Rule 30) and Physical and Mental Evaluations (Rule 35) 471

Notes and Problems 473

Pretrial Witness Lists and the Pretrial Order 477
 David and Goliath Do Discovery: A Taxonomy of Problems 477

#### C. The Scope of Discovery 478

1. Relevance 479

Favale v. Roman Catholic Diocese of Bridgeport 480 Notes and Problems 482

2. Proportionality, Burden, and Privacy 483

Cerrato v. Nutribullet, LLC 484

Wagoner v. Lewis Gale Medical Center, LLC 485

Rengifo v. Erevos Enterprises, Inc. 488

Notes and Problems 491

3. Privilege 492

Notes and Problems 493

4. Trial Preparation Material 495

Hickman v. Taylor 495

Notes and Problems 499

#### D. Experts 501

Notes and Problems 503
Thompson v. The Haskell Co. 504
Chiquita International Ltd. v. M/V Bolero Reefer 505
Notes and Problems 506

#### E. Ensuring Compliance and Controlling Abuse of Discovery 507

- 1. Types of Discovery Disputes 508
- 2. Ensuring Compliance 508 Notes and Problems 509

xix Contents

	3. Remedies: Management and Sanctions 510  Mueller v. Swift 511  Notes and Problems 515  Security National Bank of Sioux City v. Abbott Laboratories 515  Notes and Problems 517  Assessment Questions 519  Analysis of Assessment Questions 521
Ch	napter 8: Resolution Without Trial 523
A. '	<ol> <li>The Pressure to Choose Adjudication or an Alternative 524</li> <li>Default and Default Judgments 524         Peralta v. Heights Medical Center 525         Notes and Problems 526     </li> <li>Scheduling Orders and Failure to Prosecute: Involuntary Dismissal 529</li> <li>Voluntary Dismissal 530         Notes and Problems 531     </li> </ol>
В.	<ol> <li>Avoiding Adjudication 532</li> <li>Negotiation and Settlement: Why Settle? And How? 532         Jane Smart v. GrowCo, Inc. 534         <ol> <li>Contracting to Dismiss 535</li> <li>Notes and Problems 535</li> </ol> </li> <li>Third-Party Participation in Settlement: Facilitation, Encouragement, and Coercion 540</li></ol>
C	Adjudication Without Trial: Summary Judgment 569  Notes and Problems 569  1. Summary Judgment in Action: The Burdens on the Moving and Nonmoving Parties 572  Celotex Corp. v. Catrett 573  Notes and Problems 576
	2. Summary Judgment in Action: How Courts Should Assess the Evidence 579  Tolan v. Cotton 579

Notes and Problems 583

Bias v. Advantage International, Inc. 583

Notes and Problems 586

Assessment Questions 588

Analysis of Assessment Questions 590

#### **Chapter 9: The Trier and the Trial** 593

#### A. Choosing and Challenging Judges 594

Notes and Problems 596

Caperton v. A.T. Massey Coal Co. 597

Notes and Problems 604

#### B. Sharing Power with a Jury 606

- 1. When May a Jury Decide? 606 Notes and Problems 610
- 2. Choosing Jurors 612
- 3. Challenging Jurors 614 Notes and Problems 617

### C. What Will Trial Be About? The Final Pretrial Conference and Order 619

Monfore v. Phillips 619 Notes and Problems 622

#### D. Judges Guiding Juries 623

- 1. Instruction and Comment 623
- 2. Excluding Improper Influences 624
- 3. Size and Decision Rules 625

#### E. Judges Controlling Juries: Judgment as a Matter of Law 626

Notes and Problems 627

 Judgment as a Matter of Law in Action: How Courts Should Assess the Evidence 629

Pennsylvania Railroad v. Chamberlain 629

Notes and Problems 633

 Judgment as Matter of Law in Action: Judgments and Renewed Judgments 636

Notes and Problems 636 *Unitherm Food Systems, Inc. v. Swift-Eckrich, Inc.* 637

Notes and Problems 641

#### F. Judges Undoing Verdicts: The New Trial 642

- 1. The Justifications for New Trials 642
  - a. Flawed Procedures 642
  - b. Flawed Verdicts 643Lind v. Schenley Industries 644Notes and Problems 647

Contents XXi

Cl	hapter 11: Respect for Judgments 703
<b>A.</b>	Claim Preclusion 704  1. Precluding the "Same" Claim 704  a. Efficiency 704  Frier v. City of Vandalia 705  Notes and Problems 710  Semtek Intl. Inc. v. Lockheed Martin Corp. 713  Notes and Problems 717  b. Consistency—The Logical Implications of the Former Judgment 718  Notes and Problems 719
	<ol> <li>Between the "Same" Parties 720         Taylor v. Sturgell 720         Notes and Problems 726</li> <li>After a Final Judgment 729</li> <li>After a Judgment "on the Merits" 730         Notes and Problems 730         Gargallo v. Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner &amp; Smith 732         Notes and Problems 735</li> </ol>
В.	<ol> <li>Issue Preclusion 735</li> <li>The Same Issue 736         <ul> <li>Notes and Problems 737</li> </ul> </li> <li>An Issue "Actually Litigated and Determined" 737         <ul> <li>Illinois Central Gulf Railroad v. Parks 738</li> <li>Notes and Problems 740</li> </ul> </li> <li>An Issue "Essential to the Judgment" 741         <ul> <li>Notes and Problems 742</li> </ul> </li> <li>Between Which Parties? 744         <ul> <li>Parklane Hosiery Co. v. Shore 745</li> <li>Notes and Problems 750</li> </ul> </li> </ol>
C.	The Boundaries of Preclusion 755  1. Claim Preclusion 755  2. Issue Preclusion 756
D.	Repose: Collateral Attack and Reopened Judgments 757  1. Full Faith and Credit as a Bar to Collateral Attack 758  V.L. v. E.L. 759  Notes and Problems 762  2. The Reopened Judgment as an Alternative to Collateral Attack 765  United States v. Beggerly 766  Notes and Problems 768  Assessment Questions 770  Analysis of Assessment Questions 772

Contents XXIII

## PART III: PROBING THE BOUNDARIES: ADDITIONAL CLAIMS AND PARTIES

#### Chapter 12: Joinder 777

A	Ioinder	of Claims	777

- 1. Joinder of Claims by Plaintiff 778
  - a. Historical Background 778
  - b. The Federal Rules 778
  - c. Joinder and Jurisdiction 779 Notes and Problems 780
- Claims by the Defendant: Counterclaims and Crossclaims 782
   Cordero v. Voltaire, LLC 782
   Notes and Problems 785

#### B. Joinder of Parties 788

1. By Plaintiffs 788

Mosley v. General Motors Corp. 788

Notes and Problems 792

2. By Defendants: Third-Party Claims 794

Price v. CTB, Inc. 794

Notes and Problems 797

3. Compulsory Joinder 802

Temple v. Synthes Corp. 802

Notes and Problems 804

Helzberg's Diamond Shops v. Valley West Des Moines Shopping

Center 806

Notes and Problems 809

#### C. Intervention 812

Natural Resources Defense Council v. United States Nuclear Regulatory Commission 813 Notes and Problems 817 Martin v. Wilks 819 Notes and Problems 823

#### D. Interpleader 825

Southern Farm Bureau Life Ins. Co. v. Davis 827 Notes and Problems 828

#### E. Class Actions 829

- 1. Introduction 829
- 2. The Class Action and the Constitution 830
  - a. Representative Adequacy 830

    Hansberry v. Lee 831

    Notes and Problems 836

#### **XXIV** Contents

3.

b. Personal Jurisdiction 837	
Phillips Petroleum v. Shutts 837	7
Notes and Problems 842	
The Class Action and Federalism	84

- The Class Action and Federalism 842

  Standard Fire Ins. Co. v. Knowles 844

  Notes and Problems 848
- 4. Statutory Requirements 850
  Notes and Problems 854
  Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. Dukes 855
  Notes and Problems 865
- 5. Settlement of Class Actions and the "Settlement Class" 867 Notes and Problems 869
  - a. Fees 870 Notes and Problems 871
  - b. Damages and Injunctive Relief 872
  - c. Settlement and Dismissal 872

    Amchem Products, Inc. v. Windsor 873

    Notes and Problems 880

    Assessment Questions 883

    Analysis of Assessment Questions 885

Table of Cases 889
Table of Citations to the Judicial Code (28 U.S.C.) 895
Table of Citations to the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 897
Table of Authorities 899
Index 901

# Preface

Process lies at the core of our legal system: It expresses many of our culture's basic ideas about the meaning of fairness; it determines the victor in close cases; and it further determines which cases will be close ones. Procedure is also the area of law least understood and most maligned by lay observers. We root for underdogs and insist that rules not be stacked against them. But we are equally quick to condemn a case for having been decided on a "legal technicality," a phrase commonly signifying that a procedural rule has come into operation.

A similar ambivalence pervades debate about the behavior of courts and lawyers. As a society we demonstrate a strong belief in the efficacy of lawsuits to solve social, business, and personal problems, and we extol the rule of law as a distinguishing virtue of our culture. But at the same time we worry about what many believe is an excessive willingness to seek legal solutions. The ensuing debate ranges from the role of courts in restructuring social institutions to the question of whether lawyers exacerbate disputes and waste social resources by reflexively behaving in competitive, adversarial ways.

All these issues are procedural. Lawyers thus need to understand process as a tool of their trade, as a constitutive element of the legal system, and as a focus of debate about social values. Yet civil procedure is, by most accounts, a difficult and frustrating first-year course. Students come to law school with little experience in thinking explicitly about procedure and with an impression that cases simply arrive at the point of decision. Moreover, students sense that procedure may be the area in which lawyers' skill counts most; the notion that meritorious cases can be lost because of bad lawyering outrages their sense of justice even as it creates anxiety.

This book seeks to show procedure as an essential mechanism for presenting substantive questions and as a system that itself often raises fundamental issues regarding social values. We hope that students will begin to appreciate that lawyers move the system and that, to a large extent, clients' fates depend on the wisdom, skill, and judgment of their lawyers. Moreover, although all would agree that cases should not be decided on the basis of "mere" technicalities, fierce debate quickly arises when one tries to distinguish rules that merely direct traffic from those that guard the boundaries of fairness.

In addition to considering such theoretical issues, the book has some practical goals. It seeks to give students a working knowledge of the procedural system and its sometimes arcane terminology. The course also introduces the techniques of statutory analysis. It should give students a better understanding of the procedural context of the decisions they read in other courses. To these ends we have tried to select cases that are factually interesting and do not involve substantive matters beyond the experience of first-year students. The problems following the cases are intended to be answerable by first-year students and to present real-life issues. Finally, the book incorporates a number of dissenting opinions to dispel the notion that most procedural disputes present clear-cut issues.

The organization of the book adapts it to the most common sequences in contemporary procedure courses. After a brief overview of the procedural system in Chapter 1, some courses will initially consider the materials in Part I, which covers jurisdiction and choice of law. Other courses will begin with discussion of remedies, pleading, discovery, resolution without trial, identifying the trier, trial, appeal, and former adjudication, which are addressed in Part II. Part III, on joinder and complex litigation, recapitulates much of the material in Parts I and II and can be used either as a culmination of the course or as an insertion that follows pleading.

Cases have been severely edited to eliminate citations (without indicating their omission), and they read somewhat differently from real case reports; we hope they err in the direction of smoothness. Citations are retained only when they seem significant. Footnotes have been eliminated without indication. Those that survive retain their original numbers, while the editor's footnotes employ symbols. We have used several special citation forms: F. James, G. Hazard, and J. Leubsdorf, Civil Procedure (5th ed. 2001), is cited as James, Hazard, and Leubsdorf; C. Wright, Federal Courts (5th ed. 1994), is cited as Wright, Federal Courts; J. Moore, Federal Practice and Procedure (1969), is cited as Moore; C. Wright, A. Miller, and E. Cooper, Federal Practice and Procedure (1969), is cited as Wright and Miller.

Those whose assistance was acknowledged in the prefaces of earlier editions created the foundations on which this book rests. We additionally wish to thank two UCLA colleagues, Joel Feuer and Clyde Spillenger—and a former colleague, Maureen Carroll—who have gone above and beyond to help improve the tenth edition.

Finally, both of us want to thank many teachers and students who have used previous editions for detailed, thoughtful, and constructive suggestions. As with past editions, this one has been greatly improved by the library staff at UCLA's Hugh & Hazel Darling Law Library, whose ingenuity is exceeded only by their helpfulness.

We hope you like the result.

Joanna C. Schwartz Stephen C. Yeazell

## Acknowledgments

American Law Institute, Restatement (Second) of Judgments (1982), §§ 26, 28, 29. Copyright © 1982 by the American Law Institute. Reproduced by permission. All rights reserved.

Birmingham Fire Department, photograph. Copyright © 1963 by Bill Hudson / AP Images. Reproduced by permission. All rights reserved.

Brandeis, Louis D., photograph. Courtesy of the Library of Congress.

Clipper ship *Three Brothers*, photograph. Courtesy of the Library of Congress.

Court of Common Pleas, probably in Westminster Hall, London, Whaddon folio, circa 1460, painting. Copyright © by Eileen Tweedy / The Art Archive at Art Resource, NY. Reproduced by permission. All rights reserved.

Declaration of Independence by John Trumbull, painting. Courtesy of the Library of Congress.

Engineers at headquarters, Army of Potomac, November 1864, photograph. Courtesy of the Library of Congress.

Field, Stephen, photograph. Courtesy of the Library of Congress.

Ginsburg, Ruth Bader, photograph. Courtesy of the Collection of the Supreme Court of the United States.

Great Seal of the State of Delaware, illustration. Reproduced by permission of the Delaware Department of State. All rights reserved.

Hansberry, Lorraine, photograph. Courtesy of the Library of Congress.

Hodson, Sandy, "Judge Sets Attorney's Fee in Case," *The Augusta Chronicle*, March 31, 2000. Copyright © 2000 by the Augusta Chronicle. Reproduced by permission. All rights reserved.

Hodson, Sandy, "Whistle-blower Wins Case," *The Augusta Chronicle*, December 18, 1999. Copyright © 1999 by the Augusta Chronicle. Reproduced by permission. All rights reserved.

#### XXVIII Acknowledgments

International Shoe Company, photograph. Copyright © by the Landmarks Association of St. Louis. Reproduced by permission. All rights reserved.

Mitchell, John, photograph. Courtesy of the Library of Congress.

New York Central System, poster. Courtesy of the Library of Congress.

Pennoyer, Sylvester, photograph. Courtesy of the Library of Congress.

President Barack Obama delivers State of the Union address, photograph. Copyright © 2011 by Joshua Roberts / Bloomberg / Getty Images. Reproduced by permission. All rights reserved.

Tallyho Coaching, Sioux City, photograph. Courtesy of the Library of Congress.

## CIVIL PROCEDURE

	_	
	_	_



## An Overview of Procedure

#### A. THE IDEA AND THE PRACTICE OF PROCEDURE

#### 1. Locating Procedure

Civil procedure is a course about truth and justice—about how we define those words, how we seek the goals they express, and how we sometimes lose sight of them. It is also, inevitably, a course about greed, venality, and oppression, and the running battle waged against these fundamental human characteristics.

Mixed with these lofty themes are the minutiae of lawyers' work. Civil procedure is about lawyers—about their relation to their clients, to their profession, and to the courts. Most of the first year of law school concerns what lawyers call substantive law, the rules governing behavior in ordinary life: property, criminal law, torts, and contract. Everyone needs to know at least a little about these topics simply to function in the everyday world. But procedure is insiders' law, of special importance to those administering the legal system.

Those insiders turn to procedure to describe the rules of the elaborate game called litigation. At one level, procedure is the etiquette of ritualized battle, defining the initiation, development, and conclusion of a lawsuit. What does one have to say to get a court to pay attention? Suppose my adversary wants to invoke a court's help—can I instead take the dispute to a different forum? From whom may a person with a grievance seek relief? What kind of relief? If I believe my adversary has information that would help me to prove my case, may I demand it of her? All these questions—involving what lawyers would call pleading, forum selection,

joinder, remedies, and discovery—are dealt with in civil procedure. The answers to such questions are important to any lawyer who needs to help a client in a lawsuit. Although one might think that the underlying merits of the case are all that matters at the end of the day, procedural rulings—about where a case can be filed, whether a case can proceed to discovery, and whether a party is entitled to the discovery he seeks—can determine who wins and who loses.

But if procedure were only a set of rules about the etiquette of lawsuits, it would be hard to justify its place in the first-year curriculum. Another facet of procedure justifies that place: Procedure mirrors our most basic notions of fairness and the meaning of justice. If coming to a quick decision were all that mattered, we could flip coins to decide lawsuits. We don't flip coins because solving an important dispute without reference to its merits strikes us as unjust. This bedrock principle of fairness and justice finds expression both in the details of procedural design and in several parts of the U.S. Constitution, most notably the Due Process Clauses of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments.

Commentators, litigants, and courts do not, however, agree about what procedural mechanisms best reflect these overarching values. Some argue that our system is overly obsessed with permitting the adversarial airing of grievances. Proposed solutions range from streamlining adjudication to nonadjudicative dispute resolution. The system's defenders argue both that the critics overstate the pathologies of modern civil litigation and that adjudication has proved to be a major force for social justice, economic growth, and political stability over the past two centuries. Such conflicting views lurk in the background at every turn of our path.

This chapter seeks to give you some feel for procedural issues as they arise in the life cycle of a civil lawsuit. It will raise more questions than it answers, but it will offer you a sense of the course of civil litigation and a taste of the kinds of problems lawyers describe as procedural. Seeing the whole picture all at once will make more meaningful our closer investigation of these issues in the weeks to come.

We start with a simple and plausible fact situation: Peters, a student at the University of Michigan, spent his winter vacation in Champaign, Illinois, where his parents have recently moved from Milwaukee, Wisconsin. While visiting his parents, Peters was seriously injured in an automobile accident with Dodge, a lifelong resident of Champaign and owner of a popular ice cream parlor in the town. The remainder of this chapter deals with issues that might flow from this everyday occurrence.

#### 2. Clients, Lawyers, Procedure, and Strategy

Consider first whether and how this accident might enter the formal legal system. Most such episodes will never get near lawyers or courts. If Peters had adequate medical insurance and no lost wages, he might have little reason to sue Dodge. Or Dodge (or his insurer) might well offer Peters a satisfactory settlement before a suit is filed. Or Peters might want to sue but be unable to find a lawyer who would take his case.

These three alternatives describe the fate of most disputes that arise in our society, with the consequence that they will never enter the official judicial system. For the rest of this book—and for the rest of law school—you will be dealing with the exceptional instances, the disputes that do find their way into court.

What would need to happen? First, Peters would probably need to find a lawyer. (In the United States individuals can prosecute their cases themselves—*in pro. per.* or *pro se*, in the jargon of the law\*—but most consider lawyers worthwhile for litigation, in part because lawyers know their way around the procedural system.) We'll deal later, in Chapter 5, with how people in Peters's situation might find a lawyer; this matters a good deal, and because it does, it deserves more attention than it can get in this introduction.

But—even in this introduction—it bears emphasizing that the lawyer-client relationship involves *two* decisions at the outset. First, Peters, the prospective client, must locate a lawyer. For clients like Peters, that can be a bewildering process. Most individuals deal with lawyers quite infrequently, and therefore lack knowledge about what qualities to look for. Rules of professional ethics allow lawyers to advertise, but only in a limited way, and we have yet to develop a robust and reliable way of rating lawyers. So it's likely that someone in Peters's position would have to rely on word-of-mouth recommendations: Did a friend or relative have a lawyer she would recommend?

Suppose Peters does get such a recommendation and approaches Ursula Sands, a lawyer who practices in Champaign, where the accident occurred and where Peters's family lives. Further suppose that Sands's practice includes the kind of case Peters contemplates (as opposed, say, to a practice limited to wills or business transactions). When he visits Sands's office, the second decision must be made: Does Sands want to represent Peters? Experienced lawyers will tell you that the most important decision they make in a lawsuit is whether to take on a particular client. That initial decision derives its importance from the fact that professional rules prevent lawyers from simply abandoning clients if they become unhappy with the progress of the case. So Sands wants to be sure about at least two things before she takes on Peters as a client. First, she wants to know whether she can rely on his truthfulness and candor. It's a dreadful thing for a lawyer to discover, halfway through a case, that her client has fabricated part of the story or has omitted critical facts. We will learn a bit more in Chapter 6 about an attorney's obligation to double check her client's claims. Second, for reasons you'll better understand after reading Chapter 5, Sands will likely want to know whether the stakes of the case will warrant the investment it requires. In the United States today, almost all cases like Peters's will be handled on the plaintiff's side by a contingent fee agreement, in which the client pays nothing if the case fails but pays a percentage of any recovery to his lawyer. So Sands will care about the likely recovery in relation to the amount she will need to invest—in terms of her time and other expenses. If Peters's only injury is a broken ankle, but the case will require multiple experts, it's likely not worth his—or Sands's—while to pursue it. So, to reiterate, Peters must decide if he wants to retain Sands as his lawyer, and Sands must similarly decide whether she wants to represent Peters in this matter.

If Peters decides to hire Sands (and Sands agrees to take Peters on as a client), Peters and Sands have to divide responsibilities. Common sense and codes of

<sup>\*</sup> *In pro. per.* is an abbreviation for the Latin *in propria persona*, meaning "in his or her own person" (rather than by an agent or attorney). *Pro se* means "for him- or herself."

professional ethics agree that clients make major decisions about the goals of litigation. A lawyer can get disbarred if she files suit, settles a case, or refuses a settlement without consulting her client. By contrast, questions of tactics belong to the lawyer: what court to sue in, whether to request a jury trial, how to develop the facts of the case, what evidence to present in what order, and more. A lawyer should keep her client informed about these matters and would certainly explain her thinking if a client asked, but generally would not seek a client's permission or advice concerning them. Because tactics, including procedural tactics, lie in the hands of the lawyer, the lawyer needs, besides good judgment, a good grounding in the available procedural tools. How well Sands uses these tools may, in a close case, spell the difference between victory and defeat for Peters. As you encounter cases in this course you will have two questions to answer: What principle of law determined who prevailed in this situation?; and which lawyer picked this particular fight and why—what strategic or tactical advantage was she hoping to achieve?

Having divided responsibilities between lawyer and client, the system has to decide how to handle problems that arise from this division of responsibilities. For representation to work, the legal system has to treat the lawyer's choices as if they were Peters's choices. In legal and economic terms Sands is Peters's "agent," acting for him in the lawsuit. When Peters's lawyer does a fine job, everyone (except Dodge) is happy. But what if she doesn't? Suppose Sands files a suit seeking recovery for personal injuries but not for damage to Peters's car. The legal system will treat that choice as if Peters himself had made it. But what if Sands's behavior results not from Peters's choice but from Sands's carelessness—forgetting to ask Peters whether his car was damaged? In that situation, the procedural system faces a dilemma. If the system lets Sands fix her mistake by later adding the claim for property damage, it will thereby harm Dodge, who may have been relying on the original claim to be a complete statement of Peters's grievance (and thus failed to preserve evidence showing that Peters's car was not in fact damaged). But if the procedural system insists that Peters stand by the original version of the claim—without the claim for property damage—it will thereby harm Peters, by blocking him from recovering for damage to his car.

This problem has no good solution, but the system tries to solve it in three ways. The first is to make the party who made the mistake suffer: Peters can sue Sands for malpractice if her negligence has caused him to forgo part of his recovery. The second is to tell the party suffering the harm—Dodge—that the harm really isn't so bad, and that he should suffer the expense and inconvenience of allowing Peters to fix the mistake. Finally, the system can try to wriggle out of the problem by allowing Peters to amend his claim but granting Dodge extra time to prepare a defense. Each solution has a corresponding drawback. If the system insists that Peters is bound by his lawyer's slip—and that his only remedy is a malpractice action—it will force him to start a second lawsuit (against his lawyer), with all the attendant uncertainty, expense, and delay. (Moreover, his lawyer may not have the assets or insurance to cover his losses.) If the system allows Peters's lawyer to cure her slip by amending the complaint, it will undermine the efficiency that flows from treating lawyers' actions as those of their clients and will inflict the costs of Peters's lawyer's sloppiness on Dodge. And if it crafts a solution that hurts neither Peters nor Dodge but

extends the litigation, it may inflict costs on other litigants by making them wait longer to have their cases resolved.

Because procedural choices have consequences for parties and other litigants, you will repeatedly encounter courts trying to resolve this trilemma. As you do, consider whether the choices they make are reasonable.

#### WHAT'S NEW HERE?

If you've absorbed the preceding few pages, you have—even before encountering your first case or Rule or statute—learned something fundamental about the practice of law: that lawyers and clients stand in a relationship. Many layers of law and professional ethics define the lawyer-client relationship and most of them lie beyond the scope of this course. But each is assigned a role, and must have confidence that the other will do their part. The client, in choosing his lawyer, must keep in mind that the lawyer will be responsible for making tactical decisions about the litigation—including where to file the case, what evidence to seek, and how to present the claims—that could spell victory or defeat in the case. The lawyer, in accepting a case, must keep in mind that the client will have authority to accept or reject settlement offers, regardless of the attorney's view of whether the case should go to trial. So—for both lawyer and client—it's a very good idea to do some investigating and some thinking before entering the relationship.

#### B. WHERE CAN THE SUIT BE BROUGHT?

Once Peters has selected Ursula Sands as his lawyer, Sands will have to begin making procedural choices, each of which may have consequences for the outcome of the suit. One of the first such choices may not have occurred to you: where to file the case. The 50 states and the federal government all operate systems of courts, and Sands must find out whether she has a choice of courts. If she has a choice, she will have to decide which would be most advantageous.

Why should Sands care in which state Peters's case is heard? Convenience provides one possible answer: Recall that Peters is likely to return to Ann Arbor for classes, but Sands, his lawyer, operates out of Champaign. For Peters it would likely be more convenient to have the case heard in Ann Arbor, Michigan. For Sands, this may involve some headaches: If she is not licensed to practice in Michigan, she must refer the case to a lawyer who is. On the other hand, recall that Dodge is a long-established business owner in Champaign and Peters and his family are relative newcomers. A Champaign jury might be less sympathetic to Peters than to Dodge—in which case it may be worth Sands's time to find that Ann Arbor lawyer. Moreover, convenience for Peters is likely to mean inconvenience for Dodge (or his insurer), a possibility that may not make Sands unhappy. Will an Ann Arbor jury—with perhaps a University of Michigan student or

two on it—be more sympathetic to Peters? Do courts in one state or the other have large case backlogs that would delay Peters's claim? Or maybe Sands is trying to avoid a particular judge, whom she believes to be unsympathetic or ill-tempered.

With a sense in mind of where she might prefer to bring suit, Sands now needs to know what the possibilities are. The rules governing where a suit can be brought come under the headings of personal jurisdiction, subject matter jurisdiction, and venue.

#### 1. Personal Jurisdiction

A court in the United States cannot exercise power over a defendant—here Dodge—if doing so would "deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law." Out of this phrase in the U.S. Constitution\* the United States Supreme Court has woven an elaborate doctrinal fabric that limits the power of courts over defendants. As you will see in Chapter 2, this doctrine defines the *personal jurisdiction* of courts. To condense a great deal of law into a few words, a court cannot exercise power over Dodge unless the state in which that court sits has some connection with him or with the accident that gave rise to Peters's claim. Because Dodge lives in Illinois and the accident occurred there, courts in Illinois would have the power to hear the case, but not a court in Texas or California—unless Dodge lived there when the suit was later filed or had some other significant connection with those states.

What about Michigan, where Peters goes to school? Probably not, unless Dodge consented. The doctrine of personal jurisdiction focuses on the defendant, who is being taken to court against his will. That does not mean that defendants can only be sued in their home states—but it does mean that a state cannot enter a judgment against a defendant like Dodge who has no connection with the state. So our case is almost certain to be brought in a court in Illinois.

#### 2. Subject Matter Jurisdiction

Assuming for now that Peters will have to bring suit in Illinois, does he have any other choices among courts available to him? Specifically, does he have his choice between a state court and a federal court? As already noted, Sands will want to choose the court that offers her client the greatest advantages—and fewest disadvantages.

All states have at least one court of general jurisdiction that could hear Peters's state law tort claim. In Illinois that court is the circuit court, but in other states it may be called a district court, superior court, court of common pleas, or, in New York, the Supreme Court. Thus one alternative open to Peters is the Circuit Court of Illinois.

Sands may also be able to file Peters's case in federal court. If she can, some additional elements enter the calculation. All federal judges are appointed for life

<sup>\*</sup> There are, in fact *two* Due Process Clauses, one found in the Fifth Amendment, which applies only to the federal government, the other in the Fourteenth Amendment, which applies to the states.

(Article III of the U.S. Constitution permits their removal only by impeachment). Most state judges are subject to some electoral approval. That difference can be important in a case in which judicial insulation from political pressure may play a role (hardly likely in the Peters-Dodge case). Second, most federal districts are larger than their state equivalents (usually counties), so jurors will be drawn from a broader pool—not just Ann Arbor or Champaign but several surrounding counties. Consider how this fact might have affected the strategy of the plaintiffs' lawyer in the next case, *Hawkins v. Masters Farms*.

Though at this point in your study the idea may seem strange, federal courts have limited jurisdiction. Article III, §2 of the federal Constitution set the outer bounds of that jurisdiction. Within those bounds it is up to Congress to decide the precise subject matter jurisdiction of the federal courts. Congress has enacted a number of statutes authorizing federal district courts (the trial courts of the federal system) to hear certain kinds of cases. The most important statutes at this point in our exploration are 28 U.S.C. §§1331 and 1332(a).\* Read those two statutes and decide which might apply to *Peters v. Dodge*. Then read the following case. Does it tell Peters's lawyer whether she can file his claim in federal court?

# Hawkins v. Masters Farms, Inc.

2003 WL 21555767 (D. Kan. 2003)

VAN BEBBER, S.J.

Plaintiffs, Mary Ann Hawkins, as Personal Representative to the Estate of James Patrick Creal, and Rachel Baldwin, as heir of Mr. Creal, bring this action . . . against Defendants, Masters Farms, Inc., Harhge Farms, Inc., and Jack E. Masters. Plaintiffs' claims arise from a December 8, 2000 traffic accident in which a tractor driven by Defendant Masters collided with Mr. Creal's automobile, resulting in the death of Mr. Creal. Plaintiffs filed this action in federal court alleging the existence of diversity jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §1332. Defendants dispute that there is complete diversity among the parties, and the matter is before the court on Defendants' motion to dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. For the reasons set forth below, Defendants' motion is granted.

#### I. Rule 12(b)(1) Motion to Dismiss Standard

Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1) motions for lack of subject matter jurisdiction generally take one of two forms: (1) a facial attack on the sufficiency of the complaint's allegations as to subject matter jurisdiction; or (2) a challenge to the actual facts upon which subject matter jurisdiction is based. . . . Here, Defendants mount a factual attack on

<sup>\*</sup> This citation form means that the text of this statute is found in section 1332 of title 28 of the United States Code, a compilation of the statutes that make up part of federal law. The "titles" are divisions of the code according to topic; title 28 is also known as the Judicial Code, and governs matters of procedure in federal courts.

Plaintiffs' allegations of diversity subject matter jurisdiction. In addition to Plaintiffs' complaint itself, deposition testimony and other documents have been submitted for the court's review. As the party seeking to invoke federal jurisdiction, Plaintiffs bear the burden of proving that jurisdiction is proper. Because federal courts are courts of limited jurisdiction, the presumption is against federal jurisdiction.

### II. Factual Background

On December 8, 2000, Mr. Creal was killed in an automobile accident on Mineral Point Road, just south of Troy, Kansas, when his 1988 Chevrolet van collided with a New Holland tractor driven by Defendant Masters [a citizen of Kansas]. At the time of his death, Mr. Creal was living in Troy with his wife, Elizabeth Creal, and her children. He was approximately forty-four years old when he died.

James and Elizabeth Creal first met in St. Joseph, Missouri in November 1999. Mr. Creal had lived in St. Joseph for most of his life, while Mrs. Creal resided in Troy for the majority of her life. When the couple first met, Mr. Creal was living at his mother's home in St. Joseph, where he had been residing since obtaining a divorce from his previous wife.

Beginning in January 2000, Mr. Creal began spending the night at the apartment Mrs. Creal shared with her children on South Park Street in Troy. Initially, Mr. Creal would return to his mother's house every evening after work, shower, gather some clothes, and proceed to the apartment to retire for the evening. Mrs. Creal paid the rent for the apartment on South Park Street, while Mr. Creal contributed by buying the groceries for himself, Mrs. Creal, and her two children. Mr. and Mrs. Creal split the cost of utilities for the apartment.

When Mrs. Creal and her children moved into an apartment on 1st Street in Troy in March 2000, Mr. Creal brought his clothes, some furniture, pictures, photo albums, and other memorabilia to the new apartment. Mr. and Mrs. Creal also purchased a bedroom set for the apartment. When they moved into the apartment, Mr. Creal stopped going to his mother's house in St. Joseph to shower and change after work, and instead came directly back to Troy to spend the night. Also at that time, Mr. and Mrs. Creal opened a joint checking account into which Mr. Creal began depositing his paychecks to help pay the household bills. Mr. and Mrs. Creal were married in July 2000.

In November 2000, Mr. and Mrs. Creal moved into a house on Streeter Creek Road in Troy. Mr. Creal died approximately two weeks later. His death certificate lists Kansas as his residence.

From the time Mr. and Mrs. Creal first met until Mr. Creal's death in December 2000, Mr. Creal retained certain connections with the State of Missouri. In November 1999, he applied for a Missouri title and license for his Chevrolet van using his mother's St. Joseph address. In December 1999, he applied for automobile insurance on the van using the same address. In March 2000, he listed the address when he took out a loan and applied for a new Missouri title on the van to name a new lien holder. In April 2000, he renewed his Missouri driver's license for three more years under the address. In May 2000, he filled out a form for life insurance listing the address. Mr. Creal also received mail and his paycheck stubs at his mother's house, where he

stopped by every week to visit. After his death, an estate was opened for Mr. Creal in Buchanan County, Missouri alleging that he resided at his mother's address at the time of his death.

Finally, although Mr. and Mrs. Creal left open the possibility of leaving Troy to move to a location closer to Kansas City, Missouri, such as Platte City or Faucett, Missouri, they never looked for houses elsewhere and never made any specific plans to leave. Mrs. Creal testified in deposition that she was, for the most part, satisfied living in Troy.

#### **III. Discussion**

... The parties do not dispute that all Defendants are citizens of the State of Kansas and that Plaintiff Baldwin is a citizen of the State of Missouri. Although Plaintiff Hawkins, as an individual, is also a citizen of the State of Missouri, her role in this case as Personal Representative of the Estate of Mr. Creal mandates that the court focus on the citizenship of Mr. Creal at the time of his death, not the citizenship of Plaintiff Hawkins herself. 28 U.S.C. §1332(c)(2) ("[T]he legal representative of the estate of a decedent shall be deemed to be a citizen only of the same State as the decedent . . ."). Whether Mr. Creal was a citizen of the State of Kansas or the State of Missouri at the time of his death is the central dispute currently before the court.

For purposes of determining whether diversity jurisdiction exists, a person is a "citizen" of the state in which he or she is "domiciled." "For adults, domicile is established by physical presence in a place in connection with a certain state of mind concerning one's intent to remain there." Miss. Band of Choctaw Indians v. Holyfield, 490 U.S. 30, 48 (1989).

Here, the court concludes that at the time of his death, Mr. Creal had not only established a physical presence in the State of Kansas, but also displayed an intent to remain there. Although Mr. Creal lived the majority of his life in St. Joseph, Missouri, he had been living in Troy, Kansas with his wife of five months for nearly one year at the time he died. Among other things, he had moved his clothes, some furniture, pictures, photo albums, and other memorabilia into the home he shared with Mrs. Creal and her children; he contributed to household costs; and he purchased a new bedroom set with his wife. Although Mr. Creal retained some connections with the State of Missouri, the court does not find these connections sufficient to overcome the evidence that his actions from January 2000 until the time of his death demonstrated an intent to remain with his wife in the State of Kansas. In fact, the only evidence presented by Plaintiffs that directly calls Mr. Creal's intent into question is the deposition testimony of Mrs. Creal that the couple left open the possibility of leaving Troy to move to a location like Platte City or Faucett, Missouri, but that they never looked for houses there or made any specific plans to leave. At most, Mrs. Creal's testimony evidences a "floating intention" of Mr. Creal to return to his former domicile, which is insufficient to overcome the evidence that he was domiciled in the State of Kansas at the time of his death.

In conclusion, the court has considered all of the evidence and arguments presented by the parties and holds that Mr. Creal was a citizen of the State of Kansas at the time of his death. Because Plaintiffs have failed to carry their burden of showing

that complete diversity exists among the parties, the court grants Defendants' motion to dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction.

IT IS, THEREFORE, BY THE COURT ORDERED that Defendants' motion to dismiss is granted.

The case is closed.

## WHAT'S NEW HERE?

- Hawkins is a quintessential case about procedure. What does that mean? For starters, the case talks not at all about whether the driver of the tractor was careless—a question that will surely matter if the case goes to trial. Instead, it focuses on an apparently strange question: of what state Mr. Creal was a "citizen"? That matters because a federal statute, 28 U.S.C. §1332, confers subject matter jurisdiction on federal district courts in controversies between "citizens of different states." For over two centuries courts have interpreted that phrase in ways this short opinion elaborates.
- But—and this is what makes this a quintessential procedural case—after we know the answer to this question, we will still not have resolved the question of negligence (what lawyers would call the "substantive" issue in the case). Instead we will know *where* (in what court system) the rest of the case will proceed.

## **Notes and Problems**

- 1. Focus on what the parties did that led to this decision.
  - **a.** The plaintiffs filed a "complaint" (stay tuned) stating a claim for damages for wrongful death.
  - **b.** The defendant then filed a "motion" (a request that the court do something).
    - i. In this case it was a motion authorized by Rule 12(b)(1) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. Read that Rule.
    - ii. The motion asked the court to dismiss the case because the federal court lacked jurisdiction. The opinion doesn't tell us exactly what the motion papers said, but we can infer a good deal from the opinion. What do you suppose the defendants' lawyer said in the effort to get the case dismissed?
    - iii. Once the defendants made this motion, the plaintiffs' lawyer resisted it, by filing more papers arguing against dismissal. Again, what can you infer the plaintiffs said to try to persuade the court not to dismiss the case?

#### **2.** Why do the plaintiffs lose?

- a. Troy, Kansas, where the Creals lived during their short marriage, is about 16 miles from St. Joseph, Missouri, which lies on the eastern bank of the Missouri River. Mr. Creal still conducted most of his business affairs in Missouri—his mother's address was on his car registration and insurance, life insurance, and paycheck. Why wasn't this enough to make him a "citizen" of Missouri?
- **b.** What's the smallest factual change that would, you think, lead to a different outcome? If the Creals had signed a lease in St. Joseph, but had not yet moved there? If Mr. Creal had not moved his "memorabilia" into their Kansas apartment? If the Creals had not married?
- 3. What does it mean that plaintiffs have lost this motion?
  - a. Can plaintiffs file the claim again in federal court?
  - **b.** Can plaintiffs file the claim again in a state court?
  - **c.** The answer to 3a is almost certainly no, for reasons that we will discuss in Chapter 11. Although, as a technical matter, the plaintiffs could file the case again in federal court, it would quickly be dismissed because the issue of federal court jurisdiction has already been conclusively answered.
  - **d.** The answer to 3b is "probably." The court held there was no subject matter jurisdiction in federal court, but a Kansas state court of general jurisdiction would be able to hear the case. One might think that during the federal litigation the statute of limitations would expire, but Kansas, like many states, has a "savings" statute, which provides:

If any action be commenced within due time, and the plaintiff fail in such action otherwise than upon the merits, and the time limited for the same shall have expired, the plaintiff, or, if the plaintiff die, and the cause of action survive, his or her representatives may commence a new action within six (6) months after such failure.

K.S.A. §60-518.

The action in federal court apparently "was commenced within due time," that is, within the statute of limitations, and it failed for a reason "otherwise than upon the merits," namely a jurisdictional dismissal.

- **4.** How did the court come to know all the facts about the Creals that the court relied upon in making its ruling?
  - **a.** For the most part, issues that arise before trial are decided based on motions written by a lawyer. Often motions include presentations of evidence, usually affidavits (sworn statements) from witnesses. The affidavits may incorporate documentary evidence: bills, correspondence, photographs, and the like. If you were representing the plaintiffs, whom would you have contacted to obtain an affidavit?
  - **b.** In this case, because there was a dispute over the facts relating to the question of jurisdiction, the court says that it considered deposition testimony as well. At a deposition, a witness is questioned under oath before a court

reporter by a lawyer for each party, usually at one attorney's office. The witness can also be requested to bring to the deposition documents in her possession, which then can be reviewed and possibly marked as exhibits. Lawyers can then use portions of the transcript and exhibits from the deposition to support motions they submit to the court. If you were representing the defendant, whom would you have liked to depose to obtain evidence to support your argument that the court lacked jurisdiction? What documents would you have asked the witnesses to bring to the deposition? What questions would you have asked?

**c.** As you read cases in this book and in your other law school courses, consider in each instance how the court came to know the facts that the court relies upon in its opinion. Much of lawyering consists of marshalling the facts and trying to persuade the court that your client's version of the facts is more credible than your opponent's version.

# Procedure as Strategy

If it was clear that plaintiffs (the executor and heir of the estate) could have filed—and probably still can file—their claim in state court, why did the defendants' lawyer (most likely hired by their insurance carrier) spend time and money trying to get it dismissed from federal court? Conversely, if there was any doubt about the existence of federal diversity jurisdiction, why did plaintiffs (or, likely, their lawyer, who is probably working on a contingent fee basis) waste time and effort on a losing gamble when they could have been proceeding with state court litigation?

Your authors don't know for sure the answers to these questions. But reading the depositions taken in this case offers some clues that permit speculation. The plaintiffs requested a jury trial, as is common in automobile tort cases. Troy, Kansas is the seat of Doniphan County, located in northeast Kansas; a state court jury would have been drawn from the citizens of Doniphan County. If, however, the case were brought in federal court, the jury would be drawn from a much larger population pool, one that would include a number of city-dwellers.

Masters, a defendant, was a long-time resident of Troy, active in civic affairs, and known to many of its residents, including Elizabeth Creal. We know that Mr. Creal was a relative newcomer. The depositions reveal some more information about Mr. Creal: His marriage to Elizabeth Creal was his fourth marriage, and he appears not to have had close relationships with his adult children from his previous marriages. Nor was he connected with the religious or civic organizations in Troy. The fatal accident occurred when Creal was returning—alone—from a solitary day spent deer hunting.

Which jury pool would plaintiffs' lawyer want? Which jury pool would defendants' lawyer want? If this speculation is correct, notice something else: the decision's absolute silence about this factor. Judge Van Bebber, who grew up in Troy and may well have had a pretty good inkling about why this case was on the fed-

eral docket, applies the law to the facts and renders a decision. You will repeatedly encounter cases where your guess about trial strategy is not reflected in the court's application of the law.

5. On the basis of cases like *Hawkins*, Sands decides to bring Peters's case in a federal court. Dodge is indisputably a resident of Champaign, Illinois and thus a citizen of that state within the meaning of the statute. Where might Sands argue that Peters is domiciled to establish federal subject matter jurisdiction? Given what you know about students' lives, what sort of evidence would Sands want to gather to support her contention that diversity jurisdiction is appropriate here?

## 3. Service of Process

Once Sands has decided where to bring the suit, she must begin the action and notify the defendant that it has begun. The first thing to do is to draft a *complaint*. A copy of the complaint must be filed with the court. Rule 3.

Then the plaintiff's lawyer must formally notify the defendant of the suit. (It's quite likely that informal conversations with the defendant's insurance carrier will have suggested that a lawsuit is coming, but formal notice is necessary.) Rule 4 sets forth two basic means of notice, one inexpensive and informal, the other more expensive and formal. The inexpensive method, called waiver of service, involves mailing the defendant the complaint; if the defendant agrees to waive service the suit can proceed. The more expensive method, used if the defendant refuses to cooperate, requires the lawyer to draft a summons (an order to appear), and take it to the clerk of the court, who will sign and seal it. See Rule 4(a) and (b). The summons and complaint must then be "served"—that is, delivered to the defendant in one of the ways authorized by Rule 4—by private process servers or, in exceptional cases, a federal marshal. The expense comes because process servers require a fee for their work. See Rule 4(c). These topics are covered in more depth in Chapter 2.

## C. STATING THE CASE

# 1. The Lawyer's Responsibility

The preceding paragraphs referred in passing to the lawyer's drafting of a complaint. Do not be misled by that casual reference: A complaint asks the legal system to use governmental power to grant plaintiff relief; it sets out the plaintiff's claims against the defendant; leads to the exchange of discovery; and, if the facts warrant it, the entry of judgment against the defendant. Those filing a complaint bear the responsibility not to invoke the formal legal system for claims that lack factual or legal basis, and not to bring claims for improper purposes. Lawyers bear special burdens in this respect. Read Rule 11(b) and consider it in connection with the next case.

# Bridges v. Diesel Service, Inc.

1994 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 9429 (E.D. Pa. 1994)

HUYETT, J.

## I. Background

James Bridges ("Plaintiff") commenced this action against Diesel Service, Inc. ("Defendant") under the Americans with Disabilities Act ("ADA"), 42 U.S.C. §12101 et seq. [Bridges alleged that Diesel Service dismissed him from his job as a result of a disability and thus violated the ADA.] By Order dated June 29, 1994, the Court dismissed Plaintiff's Complaint without prejudice for failure to exhaust administrative remedies. In particular, Plaintiff did not file a charge with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission ("EEOC") until after commencement of this action. Defendant now moves for sanctions pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 11. . . .

### II. Discussion

... [A]s explained in this Court's June 29 Order, the filing of a charge with the EEOC is ... a condition precedent to maintenance of a discrimination suit under the ADA. The parties do not dispute that administrative remedies must be exhausted before commencement of an action under the ADA....

Rule 11 "imposes an obligation on counsel and client analogous to the railroad crossing sign, 'Stop, Look and Listen.' It may be rephrased, 'Stop, Think, Investigate and Research' before filing papers either to initiate the suit or to conduct the litigation." Gaiardo v. Ethyl Corp., 835 F.2d 479, 482 (3d Cir. 1987). Rule 11 is violated only if, at the time of signing, the signing of the document filed was objectively unreasonable under the circumstances. "The Rule does not permit the use of the 'pure heart and an empty head' defense." *Gaiardo*. Rather, counsel's signature certifies the pleading is supported by a reasonable factual investigation and "a normally competent level of legal research." Lieb v. Topstone Industries, Inc., 788 F.2d 151, 157 (3d Cir. 1986).

The Court is not convinced that Plaintiff's counsel displayed a competent level of legal research. A brief review of case law would have revealed the EEOC filing requirement. Further, an award of sanctions for failure to exhaust administrative remedies is not unprecedented.

Notwithstanding, the Court will not grant sanctions. Rule 11 is not intended as a general fee-shifting device. The prime goal of Rule 11 sanctions is deterrence of improper conduct. In this case, monetary sanctions are not necessary to deter future misconduct. Plaintiff's counsel immediately acknowledged its error and attempted to rectify the situation by filing a charge with the EEOC and moving to place this action in civil suspense. In fact, the Complaint has been dismissed without prejudice. The Court expects that Plaintiff's counsel has learned its lesson and will demonstrate greater diligence in future.

Further, Rule 11 sanctions should be reserved for those exceptional circumstances where the claim asserted is patently unmeritorious or frivolous. The mistake in the present case was procedural rather than substantive. It is also possible that Plaintiff's

counsel was confused by the different interpretations of the Supreme Court's holding in [a case interpreting the EEOC filing requirement]. Finally, the Court is aware of the need to avoid "chilling" Title VII litigation.

#### **III. Conclusion**

For the above stated reasons, Defendant's motion pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 11 is DENIED. However, this Opinion should not be read as condoning the conduct of Plaintiff's counsel. As stated above, the standard of pre-filing research was below that required of competent counsel. Plaintiff's case has been dismissed without prejudice. If the action is refiled, the Court fully expects to see a high standard of legal product from Plaintiff's counsel—in particular attorney London, who signed the Complaint.

## WHAT'S NEW HERE?

- Most Rules tell lawyers how to run the procedural system: where to file the complaint, how to notify the defendant, and so on.
- Rule 11 does something different: It tells lawyers and parties to be careful, diligent, and honest. And it sets forth some consequences if they are not.

## **Notes and Problems**

- 1. The court concludes that the plaintiff's counsel did not "display[] a competent level of legal research." What did they do wrong? What provision of Rule 11(b) was violated?
- 2. The court concludes that the plaintiff's counsel violated Rule 11 by signing and filing a complaint that was "objectively unreasonable under the circumstances." But the court nevertheless declines to impose a sanction. What aspect of Rule 11(c) gives the court this discretion?

# Procedure as Strategy

The judge, the defendant, and the plaintiff agreed that the complaint was defective and that it would be easy to cure the defect by filing the right piece of paper with the Commission. If the defect is so minor and so easy to cure, why did the defendant bother to file a motion for sanctions? One possibility is that the defendant hoped to collect fees for the relatively small amount of time necessary to bring the motion to dismiss. Possible, but not likely: Most judges would view such a sanctions motion as a waste of time—and think ill of the defendant's lawyer for imposing on the court.

Consider another possibility. Many employment discrimination lawyers would say that the EEOC filing requirement as a precondition of suit was quite elementary, and that a lawyer unfamiliar with it was likely not familiar with this area of the law. Supposing such an assessment to be correct, consider what signals the defendant's lawyer would be sending to the judge with this Rule 11 motion. Locate the signs in the opinion that the judge has heard those implicit signals.

Despite the plaintiff's attorneys' error, the court declines to impose sanctions. Why might that be? Note that, when Bridges's attorneys learned of the failure to exhaust, they agreed to dismiss the complaint without prejudice on the condition that defendant did not file a motion for sanctions.

The current Rule 11(c)(2)—not in effect at the time of the *Bridges* decision—requires that a party first serve his opponent with a motion for sanctions, then give her 21 days to fix the error. Only if the error remains uncorrected is the party allowed to provide the court with a copy of the motion. Were this rule followed in *Bridges*, the court would never have known of the plaintiff's attorneys' failure to exhaust—assuming that the plaintiff's lawyers withdrew the complaint within the 21 days.

# Note: Reading the Rules—Process and Politics

In *Masters Farms* and in *Bridges* you have encountered references to various Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. What are these Rules? Where do they come from? How are they related to other sources of law that shape civil procedure: the Constitution, statutes, and cases?

Briefly put, the Rules are like statutes and the Constitution in that they state general principles rather than dealing with their application in specific instances, which is the task of courts. But the Rules differ from statutes in two important ways.

- Unlike statutes, they are not directly enacted by a legislature. Instead, Congress in 1935 empowered judges to write the Rules. A statute, 28 U.S.C. §2072 (called the Rules Enabling Act), empowers the U.S. Supreme Court to promulgate "rules of practice and procedure . . . for cases in the United States district courts."
- Also, unlike federal statutes, which can deal with any topic concerning which the Constitution allows Congress to legislate, the Rules may only deal with "practice and procedure." Emphasizing this point, 28 U.S.C. \$2072(b) provides, "Such rules shall not abridge, enlarge, or modify any substantive right." To give a crude example, a Rule could not establish principles governing damages for breach of contract; that would be "substantive." A Rule could, however, tell the parties how they have to go about claiming whatever damages they have suffered; Rules 8(a)(3)

and 26(a)(1)(A)(iii) do just that. As you will learn in your studies this year, defining the boundary between substance (which the Rules may not regulate) and procedure (which they may) can be difficult, but Congress has made it clear that it wants the Rules to confine themselves to the latter. You will also notice that, in theory, a Rule could violate the Rules Enabling Act if it crossed the line and regulated a "substantive right"—if, for example, a Rule tried to establish the principles of contractual damages. The Supreme Court has never found such a violation, though on several occasions parties have argued that some Rule crossed this line.

The original set of Federal Rules became effective in 1938. The Supreme Court Justices did not write the original Rules themselves nor do they now serve as the primary body considering amendments to the Rules. Instead, as provided in 28 U.S.C. §§2073-2077, a series of committees, appointed by the Chief Justice of the United States Supreme Court, do this work. A Committee on Civil Rules, consisting of judges, lawyers, and a professor or two, considers proposed amendments to the Rules. This group circulates proposed changes, holds public hearings, revises the changes in light of the hearings, and submits the results to the Standing Committee on Rules of Practice, Procedure, and Evidence, again with members from the bench and bar. The Standing Committee further considers and refines the proposed amendments, passing them in turn to the Judicial Conference of the United States. The Conference, consisting entirely of federal judges and presided over by the chief justice, is the senior administrative body of the federal courts. Its tasks include everything from judicial discipline to assigning visiting judges, approving requests for new courthouse buildings, and passing on proposed amendments to the Rules.

If the Conference approves a change, it passes the proposed Rule to the Supreme Court. With all these layers in place, it may not be surprising to learn, first, that amending a Rule takes a long time, and, second, that the Court has rarely rejected outright a Rules amendment, although on occasion individual justices have dissented from the promulgation of a proposed Rule.

Even after all these steps the proposed Rule still is not law. Under 28 U.S.C. §2074 the Court, if it too approves the proposed change, must "transmit [it] to Congress not later than May 1 of the year in which such a rule . . . is to become effective." Congress has until December 1 to act: If it disagrees with a proposed change it can pass a statute blocking or altering the proposed Rule. Congress has only on a very few occasions blocked or amended a Rule.

Since their promulgation in 1938 the Rules have undergone a number of revisions, some minor (adding a new holiday to the list of days that do not "count" for time limits) and some major (creating the modern class action, a change that some thought came close enough to being "substantive" that it violated the Rules Enabling Act).

After a number of decades during which the Rules and the process that produced them were seen as essentially technical, recent years have seen both individual Rules and the process surrounding them become the source of controversy. Briefly put, that controversy has taken two forms. Some have criticized specific Rules as favoring one group over another. For example, some say that the recent

changes in discovery rules came at the behest of repeat defendants (generally large public and private institutions) and will handicap those who more often find themselves as plaintiffs—those challenging the actions of such defendants. (We'll explore this branch of the controversy more thoroughly in Chapter 7, on discovery.) The other form of criticism focuses on the courts, which, some charge, have interpreted Rules in ways unintended by the drafters and which, again, favor institutional defendants over plaintiffs. As examples, critics cite the U.S. Supreme Court's recent reinterpretation (as the critics would have it) of Rule 8, governing pleading; and the same Court's interpretation of Rule 23, governing class actions. As you will see in later chapters, these decisions raised barriers for plaintiffs that, critics say, betray the original principles behind the Rules and distort access to justice. In the pages that follow, we shall try to highlight such examples of controversy—we aim not to resolve these disputes, but to lay out their bases and sometimes point to data that would enable one to decide who has the stronger argument.

Finally, one should note that the Rules have had an influence far beyond the courts for which they were written. Federal courts hear only 2 percent of the civil cases in the United States. But the model represented by the Rules—merger of law and equity, relaxed pleading, flexible joinder of claims and parties, and broad discovery—has deeply influenced the procedure of state courts. Though it was not the case in 1938, every state now uses a procedural model that embraces most of these principles. At one time, 30-plus states went so far as to adopt the "federal" Rules as their own procedural code. This trend has declined; as of 2003, one scholar found "no true replicas" of the Federal Rules adopted by any state, but concluded that "the federal model of civil procedure remains substantially influential at the state level." John B. Oakley, A Fresh Look at the Federal Rules in State Courts, 3 Nev. L.J. 354 (2003). So when you are studying the Rules, you are studying the most influential procedural reform of the last 200 years. Note also that the states' adoption of a Rules-model procedure makes state courts a forum for the political controversies just noted. To use just one example, when the U.S. Supreme Court interpreted Rule 8 (the pleading rule) in a way said to handicap plaintiffs, that interpretation bound all federal courts, but left state courts free to interpret their analogous rule in a different way. So when, in the coming pages, you read a federal court's interpretation of a federal Rule, you might ponder whether you think a state should follow the same path or diverge from it.

# 2. The Complaint

Bridges illustrates one facet of a lawyer's responsibility in drafting a complaint. But even if Peters's lawyer is entirely comfortable that the claim is well grounded in fact and in law, she must still confront the task of setting forth that claim in a formal document. What should be in a complaint? Should it contain a simple statement that Peters is suing Dodge for injuries suffered in an accident, or a detailed recitation of what each party did on the day of the accident, and a blow-by-blow account of plaintiff's injuries and recovery? As we will explore in Chapter 6, we are now in the midst of a revived debate over that question. The next case captures what was, until recently, the answer in federal courts and continues to be the rule in most state courts.

## Bell v. Novick Transfer Co.

17 F.R.D. 279 (D. Md. 1955)

THOMPSEN, J.

In this tort action, originally filed in the Court of Common Pleas of Baltimore City, and removed to this court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§1441 and 1446, defendants have moved to "dismiss the Declaration" because (1) it "fails to state a claim against the defendants and each of them upon which relief can be granted"; (2) it "alleges only that an accident occurred due to the negligence of the defendants as a result of which the plaintiffs were injured"; and (3) it "fails to allege the specific acts of negligence by the defendants of which the plaintiffs complain."

The [complaint, known in Maryland as a] declaration[,] alleges that [1] "on or about August 14, 1954, while the Infant Plaintiff, Ronald Bell, was riding in an automobile headed in a northerly direction on Race Road at its intersection with Pulaski Highway, both said road and highway being public highways of Baltimore County, State of Maryland, the automobile in which the infant plaintiff was riding was run into and struck by an automobile tractor-trailer outfit owned by the Defendants, Novick Transfer Company, Inc., and Katie Marie Parsons, and operated at the time by their agent, servant or employee, the Defendant, Morris Jarrett Coburn, III, in a careless, reckless and negligent manner, in a westerly direction on Pulaski Highway at the intersection aforesaid, [2] so that" the infant plaintiff was injured. The declaration also alleges the injuries and damage, and that they were "the direct result of the negligence on the part of the defendants" without any negligence on the part of the plaintiffs contributing thereto.

Although this declaration may not be sufficient under Maryland practice, it meets the requirements of Rule 8, Fed. Rules Civ. Proc., which requires only "a short and plain statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief."

Nor is defendant entitled in this case to "a more definite statement" by motion under Rule 12(e). Although some courts have held that such a motion is the correct procedure to follow if a party needs further information to prepare his defense, the better rule of law is that such information should be obtained by interrogatories under Rule 33, or other discovery procedure, unless it is really necessary to enable the party to frame his responsive pleading.

Defendant may obtain by interrogatories or other discovery procedure the facts upon which plaintiff based its allegations that the truck was being operated in a careless, reckless and negligent manner, and that such negligence was the direct cause of the injury to the infant plaintiff.

The motion is hereby overruled.

## **Notes and Problems**

1. To understand what this fight is about, reread the second paragraph of the opinion, which quotes the significant parts of the complaint, which are

preceded by numbers in square brackets (e.g., [1]). Imagine yourself in the position of the defendant. What other information would the defendant want the complaint to contain?

- **a.** Why might the plaintiff not include all the detail desired by the defendant?
- **b.** Why doesn't the court require the plaintiff to include additional detail in the complaint?
- c. If the plaintiff did not know this information, would filing the complaint violate Rule 11? (The case arose before the current version of Rule 11.) Presumably not, so long as there was a factual basis for the claims made in the complaint.
- **2.** The court, in passing, notes that the complaint was not sufficiently detailed to pass muster under the then-prevailing Maryland state court pleading rules. That statement references a debate that has recently taken on new salience.
  - **a.** One school of thought says that a detailed complaint will enable courts to screen out weak claims early in the process. That desirable result will, however, come at the cost of eliminating a certain number of claims that *would* be strong if they gained access to the discovery mechanism that is one hallmark of modern procedure.
  - **b.** The other school of thought says that "notice pleading"—a regime like that endorsed in *Bell*, that gives the defendant only a general idea of the nature of the claim—will lead to more claims being resolved justly, on their factual merits. That desirable result will, however, come at the cost of allowing some weak claims to survive to a later stage of litigation—thus increasing the defendant's litigation expense.
- 3. The case accurately describes the approach long understood to be prescribed by the Federal Rules—allowing sketchy pleadings and leaving until a later stage the elimination of unsubstantiated claims. As you will see in Chapter 6, over the last several years the U.S. Supreme Court has revisited this debate, interpreting Rule 8 with more stringency than does the opinion in *Bell v. Novick Transfer*. Stay tuned.

# Procedure as Strategy

We have thus far focused on procedural maneuvers in which the adversaries have sought to use procedural rules to gain tactical or procedural advantage. Consider the possibility that Novick Transfer's lawyer may have outsmarted himself. Unlike *Hawkins v. Masters Farms*, Bell's lawyer originally filed suit in a state court. The opinion tells us in passing that the very general complaint it quotes would at the time not have passed muster in Maryland state courts. But defendant, presumably seeking some tactical advantage, "removed" the case to federal court alleging that the parties were of diverse citizenship. (As you will see in Chapter 3, under some

circumstances it is possible for a defendant to reject plaintiff's original choice of a court.) Explain how this opinion suggests that the decision to remove was a tactical error.

On the basis of *Novick Transfer Co.*, Peters's attorney has drafted the following complaint:

United States District Court for the Central District of Illinois	
Paul Peters,	
Plaintiff	
	COMPLAINT FOR NEGLIGENCE
	File No
V.	
Dan Dodge,	
Defendant	

- 1. Plaintiff, Paul Peters, is a citizen of the state of Michigan, and defendant, Dan Dodge, is a citizen of the state of Illinois. The matter in controversy exceeds \$75,000, exclusive of interest and costs.
  - 2. On January 1, 2019, Paul Peters was operating his car on Main Street in Champaign, Illinois.
- 3. At 4:00 P.M. on that date, a car owned and operated by defendant Dan Dodge negligently collided with plaintiff's car, causing damage to plaintiff's car and injury to plaintiff's person.
- 4. Plaintiff suffered a sprained neck, broken arm, and numerous bruises and lacerations, and incurred medical expenses in the amount of \$25,000.

WHEREFORE, plaintiff demands judgment for \$100,000, together with the costs of this action.

Ursula Sands Attorney for Plaintiff 123 Church Street Champaign, Illinois 61820 sands@sandslaw.com 217/353-5775

# 3. The Response—Motions and Answer

Once defendant receives proper notice of the complaint, attention shifts to his response—the defense of the action. In the United States in the twenty-first century, most defendants in cases like Peters v. Dodge will be represented by a lawyer hired by their automobile insurer.

Liability policies typically contain two promises—that the insurer will pay damages (up to the amount of the policy limits) and that the insurer will provide a legal defense. Dodge will have notified his insurer immediately after the accident (liability policies require prompt notification of accidents so the insurer's staff can gather information with which to defend against possible claims). When Dodge is served with the complaint, he may be upset that he's being sued, but he'll again contact his insurer, who will inform him that the insurer will provide a lawyer. The insurer will then contact a local lawyer, with whom the insurer likely has a standing arrangement, giving the lawyer any information already in the file. The lawyer will contact Dodge directly and proceed from there with Dodge as her client. The relationship between Dodge and his attorney will mirror that between Peters and his attorney, with one important exception. Almost all liability policies give the insurer—not the insured—authority to settle the case. So an insurer could decide that Peters's claim was strong and pay him the damages he demanded (or whatever smaller sum was agreed on), even if Dodge vehemently denied any liability. Conversely, even if Dodge wanted his insurer to enter into a quick settlement so he could focus all his attention on his ice cream shop, the insurer could decide to contest liability and litigate.\*

Assume that Dodge and his insurer do not want to settle, at least at this stage. How does Dodge's lawyer proceed? Her first procedural task is to respond to the complaint. Although it would be possible to have a system in which a defendant was not required to do anything until trial, both the Federal Rules and state codes of procedure require some response by the defendant. Generally, that response takes one of two forms: a *motion* attacking the complaint in some way or a pleading responding to the allegations in the complaint (usually called an *answer*).

#### a. Pre-Answer Motions

Motions is lawyer-talk for requests that a court do something; lawyers speak of "moving" or of "making a motion" to have the court take some step—dismiss the case, require an adversary to disclose certain information, enter judgment on a verdict, and so on. At the early stages of litigation, there are several motions that a defendant may make to end the case or to alter its shape, set out in Rule 12(b).

There may be reasons, having nothing to do with the merits of the claim, why a case should be dismissed. These reasons typically relate to the court in which the action is brought or the method by which the defendant was brought into that court. For example, the defendant may contend that the case should be dismissed because it does not belong in federal court (subject matter jurisdiction); such a motion prompted the decision in *Hawkins v. Masters Farms*, the first case in this chapter. See Rule 12(b)(1).

<sup>\*</sup> As you may learn in another course, there may be penalties if an insurer *unreasonably* refuses to settle a case, but we ignore these refinements for now.

The defendant may also say that, even if everything in the complaint is true, under the substantive law plaintiff has no right to relief. An obvious if unrealistic example is a complaint that alleges that the defendant made a face at the plaintiff or that the defendant drove a car of an offensive color. At common law, the defendant would *demur* to such claims; now we say that the defendant moves to dismiss on the ground that the complaint fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. See Rule 12(b)(6). The opinion you read in *Bell v. Novick Transfer* was written in response to the defendant's Rule 12(b)(6) motion.

Notice an important characteristic of these pre-answer motions: *They take no position on the truth or falsity of plaintiff's factual allegations* (for example, that Dodge was driving negligently). That, as you will see in a moment, is the job of the answer.

## **Notes and Problems**

- 1. If Dodge wants to make a pre-answer motion to dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, he will prepare and file a series of papers with the court and serve them on Peters:
  - **a.** A notice of the motion—which simply tells the other side that the defendant plans to make a motion, what that motion is (here, a motion to dismiss for want of subject matter jurisdiction), and the time and place at which the motion will be heard by the judge;
  - **b.** A memorandum of points and authorities (a short brief discussing his case and the reasons the court should grant his motion);
  - **c.** Any evidence pertinent to the motion—perhaps an affidavit (a sworn declaration) and copies of documents concerning Dodge's and Peters's residence and local affiliations.
- 2. What next? It has become common for motions to be decided without any oral hearing—"on the papers." In that event the judge will simply issue a ruling. If there is a hearing, the judge will typically have read the motion papers beforehand. The judge will either hear oral argument from the lawyers or ask them questions about any aspects of the case not clear from the papers. She may decide the motion on the spot or she may reserve her ruling, making it after additional thought or research. Sometimes a judge will issue a tentative ruling based on the papers, which is given to the lawyers when they arrive for the hearing. The judge then allows the losing party to argue against the tentative ruling.

If the defendant does not make a pre-answer motion or if the court denies a pre-answer motion, the defendant must then answer. See Rules 7(a), 12(a).

### b. The Answer

In contrast to a pre-answer motion, an *answer*, as the name suggests, does respond to the allegations of the complaint, paragraph by paragraph. There are only two essential variations on the answer:

- 1. In the most common response to a complaint, the defendant denies the truth of one or more of the allegations of the complaint, or, if after reasonable investigation the defendant does not know whether an allegation is true, he may deny the allegation. See Rule 8(b). (At common law, this move was called a *traverse*\*; today it's a *denial*.) The defendant will also likely admit some of the facts in the complaint, for example, the day the accident occurred, or the citizenship of the parties.
- 2. The defendant may want to assert defenses that will wholly or partially defeat plaintiff's claim. For example, the defendant may contend that the applicable statute of limitations has run or that the plaintiff has released her claim. At common law, such matters were called *confession and avoidance*; today we call them *affirmative defenses*. See Rule 8(c).
- **3.** The defendant may also wish to assert a claim against the plaintiff that would entitle him to relief. These are called *counterclaims*. See Rule 13.

Turning to Peters's case, let us suppose that Dodge's attorney decides there is no question relating to personal jurisdiction and that there are no problems with notice or service of process. On the other hand, Dodge may very well believe that the federal court does not have subject matter jurisdiction over the claim because the parties are not diverse (as in Hawkins). Dodge probably will want to deny certain allegations of the complaint, such as the allegation that he was negligent. He also may want to allege various affirmative defenses to Peters's claims. For example, in such a case it is quite common for a defendant to claim that the plaintiff's contributory negligence was, at least in part, the cause of the accident. Such contributory negligence will act as a complete or partial defense to recovery. And, if Dodge was injured or his vehicle damaged in the accident, he will want to assert a counterclaim, alleging Peters's negligence caused injuries to Dodge, which could enable Dodge to get compensation for his injuries and property damage. Indeed, as you will discover in Chapter 12, if Dodge has a counterclaim arising from the accident, he must assert it in his answer, or lose it.

After considering the possible responses and possible counterclaims, Dodge's attorney drafts the following answer to Peters's complaint.

<sup>\*</sup> From an obsolete sense of the word: "something that crosses, thwarts, or obstructs."

ANSWER AND COUNTERCLAIM
File No

United States District Court for the Control District of Illinois

Defendant, Dan Dodge, answers the complaint of plaintiff herein as follows:

- 1. Admits that defendant is a citizen of the state of Illinois, and, except as admitted, denies the allegations of paragraph 1 of the complaint.
- 2. Admits that, at approximately 4:00 P.M. on January 1, 2019, plaintiff was operating a car on Main Street in Champaign, Illinois, and, except as admitted, states that defendant is without information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations in paragraph 2 of the complaint and, on that basis, denies the allegations of paragraph 2 of the complaint.
- 3. Admits that, at approximately 4:00 P.M. on January 1, 2019, there was a collision between a car owned and operated by defendant and a car owned and operated by plaintiff and that plaintiff's vehicle was damaged and plaintiff suffered some injury as a result of said collision and, except as admitted, defendant denies the allegations of paragraph 3 of the complaint.
- 4. Defendant states that he is without information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations in paragraph 4 of the complaint and, on that basis, denies the allegations of paragraph 4 of the complaint.

#### **First Defense**

5. The court lacks jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action because plaintiff and defendant are not citizens of different states.

#### **Second Defense**

6. Defendant alleges that plaintiff drove his car carelessly and recklessly, and that such careless and reckless operation was a cause of the accident.

#### Counterclaim

- 7. On January 1, 2019, at approximately 4:00 P.M. at Main Street in Champaign, Illinois, Paul Peters drove a car in a careless, reckless, and negligent manner and thereby caused said car to collide with a car owned and operated by Dan Dodge.
- 8. As a result of said collision, Dodge's car was damaged, and Dodge also suffered a whiplash injury, as well as numerous cuts and bruises, and incurred expenses for medical treatment of \$1,800.